## APR 0 1 2016

COURT OF APPRALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON BY

No. 340228

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### INLAND EMPIRE DRY WALL SUPPLY, CO.

Appellant,

v.

### WESTERN SURETY CO.

Respondent

## APPEAL FROM SPOKANE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT THE HONORABLE JOHN O. COONEY

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT INLAND EMPIRE DRY WALL, LLC.

RICHARD D. CAMPBELL, WSBA# 24078 WILLIAM M. HUGHBANKS, WSBA# 45562 Attorneys for Appellant

CAMPBELL & BISSELL, PLLC 820 West 7<sup>th</sup> Ave Spokane, Washington 99204 Telephone: (509) 455-7100 Email: rcampbell@campbell-bissell.com whughbanks@campbell-bissell.com

# **

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Inland Empire Dry Wall Supply Co. ("Inland") filed suit against Respondent Western Surety Co. ("Western"), to recover moneys owed for materials it delivered to a commercial construction project. It subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment on its lien foreclosure claim and Western filed a cross motion for summary judgment seeking to dismiss the case because Fowler General Construction ("Fowler"), the principal on the lien bond, was not joined to the action. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Western. Inland filed a motion for reconsideration which was also denied and this appeal timely followed.

### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when it denied Inland's motion for summary judgment by letter ruling on October 6, 2015 and in its order dated October 22, 2015.
- 2. The trial court erred when it granted Western's motion for summary judgment by letter ruling on October 6, 2015 and in its order dated October 22, 2015.
- 3. The trial court erred when it denied Inland's motion for reconsideration by letter ruling on November 20, 2015 and in its order dated December 16, 2015.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Is Inland, a material supplier which supplied materials to a residential construction project, an entity which is entitled to protection under RCW 60.04 *et seq.*? (Assignment of Error 1, 2 and 3).
- 2. Should Inland's motion for summary judgment have been granted when it proved it complied with the statutory elements of RCW 60.04

*et seq.* to foreclose its claim against the release of lien bond recorded by Western? (Assignment of Error 1, 2 and 3).

- 3. Should a bond principal in a surety-principal-obligee relationship be defined as an "owner of the subject property" as contemplated by RCW 60.04.141? (Assignment of Error 1, 2, and 3).
- 4. Because the legislature did not define "owner of the subject property" in RCW 60.04.141, should the trial court have construed the term against Inland, an entity entitled to protection under the lien statutes? (Assignment of Error 1, 2, and 3).
- 5. Whether, under a liberal interpretation in favor of a lien claimant, RCW 60.04.141 requires a lien claimant name the principal of a release of lien bond as an indispensable party when the lien statutes do not expressly so require? (Assignment of Error 1, 2, and 3).
- 6. Was Fowler, the principal on the release of lien bond, an indispensable party to the action when was not impaired or impeded from protecting its interests, it had actual notice of the lawsuit, its own counsel represented the surety, and it actively participated in defense of the lawsuit? (Assignment of Error 1, 2, and 3).

### IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Inland is a supplier of drywall materials for use on construction projects. (C.P. 4, 10). On or about October 15, 2012, Inland entered into a credit agreement to sell drywall materials to Eastern Washington Drywall & Paint, LLC (hereafter "EWD&P"). (C.P. 4, 11, 14-15). Thereafter, EWD&P entered into a subcontract with Fowler, the general contractor on the Belle Vista Apartments in Richland, Washington (hereafter "Project") in Richland, Washington for EWD&P to perform drywall construction work. (C.P. 4, 10, 25). On April 14, 2014, EWD&P made its first of many orders of materials from Inland for the Project. (C.P. 11, 16-17). In total, Inland supplied \$124,653.05 worth of drywall to EWD&P which was incorporated into the Project. (C.P. 11, 16-17). EWD&P did not pay Inland for any of the drywall but admits that it owes Inland \$124,653.05 for the materials. (C.P. 11, 26).

Inland timely and properly served a pre-claim lien notice to the owner of the Project, Western States Development Corporation, as required by RCW 60.04.031. (C.P. 18-20). On September 26, 2014, Inland timely and properly recorded a lien in Benton County, Washington under auditor's number 2014-024259 as required by RCW 60.04.091. (C.P. 21-22). On November 17, 2014, Fowler recorded a release of lien bond, issued by Western, in the Benton County Auditor's office in the amount of \$186,979.57 to release the Project from Inland's lien pursuant to RCW 60.04.161. (C.P. 49-50).

On January 5, 2015, Inland timely filed its summons and complaint to foreclose on its lien. RCW 60.04.141. (C.P. 1-6). On March 26, 2015, Western filed its answer to the complaint. (C.P. 7-9). Western was represented by Timothy Klashke of the law firm Kuffel, Hultgrenn, Klashke, Shea & Ellerd, LLP (the "law firm"). (C.P. 9). The law firm, and Tim Klashke in particular, are Fowler's regular attorneys. (C.P. 86-94). In Western's answer, the law firm denied the validity of the lien and asserted affirmative defenses which denied Western's <u>and Fowler's</u> obligation to pay Inland. (C.P. 7-9).

On August 6, 2015, Inland filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. (C.P. 37-39). Inland asked the trial court to foreclose on its lien because Inland had complied with the mechanic's lien statutes and proven it is owed the sums claimed in the lien. (C.P. 30-36, 37-39). On August 31, 2015, Western filed a cross-motion for summary judgment, asking the trial court to dismiss the lawsuit solely because Inland had failed to join Fowler as a party and serve it with process within eight months of filing its lien. (C.P. 63-75, 76-77, 43-50, 81-85). The trial court heard oral argument for both motions on October 2, 2015. (C.P. 118-120). At the conclusion of oral argument, the trial court stated it would be taking the matter under advisement and would issue a decision by way of a letter to counsel for the parties. (R.P. 39).

On October 6, 2015, the trial court sent a letter to Inland and Western announcing its ruling that it was granting Western's motion for summary judgment and denying Inland's motion for summary judgment. (C.P. 118-120). In its letter ruling, the trial court stated that pursuant to RCW 60.04.141, "the owner of the subject property" must be served with process within ninety days of the date of filing the action. (C.P. 119-120). The trial court acknowledged that RCW 60.04.141 does not define "owner

11

of the subject property" but that for purposes of this case, the owner of the subject property was WSDC [the owner of the real property] ..." until such time that the real property was released by the bond. (C.P. 119-120). The trial court went on to conclude that RCW 60.04.141 requires that the "owner of the subject property" be named in the lawsuit and that the release of lien bond was now the "subject property". (C.P. 120). The trial court relied on CalPortland Co. v. LevelOne Concrete, LLC, 180 Wn. App. 379, 321 P.3d 1261 (2014) which held that the only the owner of the subject property need not be served with process when a release of lien bond is recorded. (C.P. 120) The trial court also noted that the *CalPortland* decision stated that the only parties with an interest in the bond were the principal and the surety. (C.P. 120). The trial court then reasoned that both the principal and surety were the "owners of the subject property" and both must be named in the lawsuit. (C.P. 120). Because the trial court concluded that one of the owners of the subject property (Fowler) was not served with process within ninety days of filing of the action, Inland's case must be dismissed. (C.P. 120). The order granting Western's motion for summary judgment and denying Inland's motion was entered on October 22, 2015. (C.P. 121-123).

On October 29, 2015, Inland timely filed its motion for reconsideration which was heard by the trial court without oral argument.

12

(C.P. 124-125, 126-134). On November 20, 2015, the trial court sent a letter to Inland and Western's counsel, denying Inland's motion for reconsideration. (C.P. 151).<sup>1</sup> The order denying Inland's motion for reconsideration was entered on December 16, 2015. (C.P. 153-154). Inland timely initiated this appeal. (C.P. 155-157).

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Inland supplied \$124,653.05 worth of materials which were incorporated in the Project. (C.P. 11, 16-17). It was not paid for them and, being an entity determined by the legislature to be protected by the lien statutes, filed a lien to secure payment. (C.P. 11, 21-22). Inland, in its motion for summary judgment, proved it met all of the necessary elements to foreclose its claim and prevail on summary judgment. (C.P. 30-36, 10-24, 25-29).

Inland did not name the principal of the bond in the action because the lien statutes, and the cases which interpret them, do not expressly require it to do so. *See* RCW 60.04.141 (service required on the "owner of the subject property"); RCW 60.04.161 (bond in lieu statute does not state a bond principal must be named as a party); RCW 60.04.171 (requiring in any lien action the owner shall be joined as a party); and *CalPortland* at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On that same day, November 20, 2015, the trial court sent a second letter to Western and Inland's counsel, clarifying which pleadings it considered in denying Inland's motion for reconsideration. (C.P. 152)

387-88, 321 P.3d at 1265 (holding the owner does not need to be named as a defendant where a lien bond is filed). Naming only the surety is permitted under general suretyship law. *See section VII. D. infra*, at 21-23. The trial court incorrectly determined that once a release of lien bond was recorded, RCW 60.04.141 requires the owner of the subject property be named in the lawsuit and that, in a release of lien bond scenario, the bond principal is an "owner" and the "subject property" is the bond. (C.P. 120). The trial court should have followed the holding the *CalPortland* case which held that the exact opposite, that the owner of the subject property need not be named in the lawsuit. 180 Wn. App. at 388, 321 P.3d at 1265. The trial court further misinterpreted the *CalPortland* case by determining that the bond was the subject property. (C.P. 120). The trial court failed to analyze whether the bond principal is an indispensable party under CR 19. (C.P. 119-120).

By dismissing Inland's lawsuit, granting summary judgment in favor of Western, and denying Inland's motion for reconsideration, the trial court failed to liberally construe RCW 60.04.141 in Inland's favor, as legislatively mandated by RCW 60.04.900.

////

||||

////

### VI. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>

The trial court engaged in statutory interpretation when it determined a principal on a lien bond is an "owner" for the purpose of RCW 60.04.141 and granting Western's motion for summary judgment as a result. When reviewing a trial court's interpretation of a statute, and when reviewing a ruling made at summary judgment, the standard of review is de novo. *Roe v. TeleTech Customer Care Mgmt. (Colo.) LLC,* 171 Wn.2d 736, 744, 257 P.3d 586, 589 (2011). Under a de novo review, the reviewing court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court, meaning it must construe all evidence and inferences in favor of the party against whom summary judgment was entered. *See, Hubbard v. Spokane County,* 146 Wn.2d 699, 706, 50 P.3d 602, 606 (2002).

### VII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## A. <u>Inland is an Entity which is Entitled to Protection under RCW</u> <u>60.04 et seq.</u>

As a preliminary matter, construction material suppliers are entities which Washington's mechanic's lien statutes are intended to protect. *See* RCW 60.04.011(4); *Portland Elec. & Plumbing, Co. v. Dobler*, 36 Wn. App. 114, 117-18, 672 P.2d 103, 104 (1983) (holding that a material supplier is entitled to a lien for materials supplied to a construction project). Inland is a construction materials supplier. (C.P. 4). Because it is an entity intended to be protected under the mechanic's lien statute, the Court must liberally construe the statutes in Inland's favor. See RCW 60.04.900; Williams v. Athletic Field, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 683, 694-98, 261 P.3d 109, 116-18 (2011).

### B. <u>Inland's Motion for Summary Judgment should have been</u> Granted because it Complied with RCW 60.04 *et seq.*

For a lien claimant to prevail, it must meet the following statutory elements: (1) Be authorized to assert a lien; (2) Timely file a pre-claim notice; (3) Record the claim of lien in the county where the Project is situated; and (4) File a lawsuit to foreclose within eight months of the recording date. *See* RCW 60.04.021, .031, .091 and .141. In addition, a lien claimant must also show it is entitled to payment for the amounts claimed in the lien. *See Norris Indus. v. Halverson-Mason Constructors*, 12 Wn. App. 393, 399, 529 P.2d 1113, 1117 (1974).

In this case, Inland complied with the lien filing and recording requirements under the lien statutes. First, there is no dispute that as a supplier, Inland is authorized file a lien. *See, Portland Elec.* at 117-18, 672 P.2d at 104; (C.P. 4). Secondly, Inland properly served its pre-claim lien notice to Western States Development Corporation as required by RCW 60.04.031. (C.P. 10-22). Third, Inland timely recorded its lien in Benton County under auditor's file number 2014-024259 pursuant to RCW 60.04.091. (C.P. 21-22). Finally, Inland filed its summons and

16

complaint to foreclose on its lien and served Western with process within eight months of recording the lien pursuant to RCW 60.04.141. (C.P. 1-6).

After the lawsuit was filed, Inland met its burden to show it is owed the sums claimed in the lien, \$124,653.05, by producing records showing the orders made by EWD&P for use on the Project. (C.P. 10-17). Finally Inland provided affidavit testimony from EWD&P admitting this entire amount, \$124,653.05 is owed to Inland. (C.P. 25-29). Because Inland complied with all procedural steps required under the lien statutes and met its burden of proof regarding the amounts owed on the lien, the trial court erred in denying Inland's motion for summary judgment.

### C. <u>A Bond Principal is not an "Owner" and the Bond is not "the</u> Subject Property" under RCW 640.04.141.

The trial court, erred when it construed an undefined term in Western's favor. Once the trial court determined Inland to be within the category of entities to be protected by the lien statutes, it should have construed the undefined term in Inland's favor. *See Williams*, 694-98, 261 P.3d at 116-18. However, in its October 22, 2015 order, the trial court construed the statutes *against* Inland making the decision contrary to law. Dismissing a valid lien claimant's action resulting in a substantial forfeiture should never happen on a "technical application" of an undefined statutory term. (C.P. 118-120).

When interpreting a statute, "the court's objective is to determine the legislature's intent." Olson Eng'g, Inc. v. KeyBank Nat'l Ass'n, 171 Wn. App. 57, 65, 286 P.3d 390, 394 (2015) (internal citations omitted). The surest indication of legislative intent is the language the legislature enacted. Id. Undefined terms are given their plain and ordinary meaning unless a different legislative intent is indicated. Ravenscroft v. Wash. Water Power, Co., 136 Wn.2d 911, 920-21, 969 P.2d 75, 80 (1998). When determining the plain meaning of words used in statutes, the court will look to the text of the questioned provision and "the context of the statute in which the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 600, 115 P.3d 281, 283 (2005).

The term "owner" is commonly understood to mean the person or entity who is the owner of record of the real property being liened. *See e.g. Schumacher Painting Co. v. First Union Management*, 69 Wn. App. 693, 694-700, 850 P.2d 1361, 1365 (1993). The person or entity listed as the owner in a public records title search is the person/entity which must be named as a defendant and served with process. *Id.*  The language used by the legislature throughout RCW 60.04 *et seq.* also confirms the legislature's intent that "owner" means the owner of record of the real property being liened. For example, RCW 60.04.151 discusses the rights of the owner of the real property, including the right of the owner to withhold sums of money due to the general contractor. Furthermore, in RCW 60.04.091, the statute requires a lien claimant to name the "owner or reputed owner of the property" if known and record the claim of lien in the county where the "subject property" is located. *See* RCW 60.04.091.

Washington courts have had the opportunity to define a release of lien bond as "the subject property" and have declined to do so. In *CalPortland*, the court held that the purpose of RCW 60.04.161

is to allow a party to file a bond to support transferring to the bond a lien against the property to allow the party supplying the bond to free up the property for conveyance. *Olson Eng'g, Inc. v. KeyBank Nat'l Ass'n*, 171 Wn.App. 57, 66, 286 P.3d 390 (2012). Thus, filing the bond does not destroy the lien entirely but instead transfers the the real property to the bond. *DMB Consulting Eng'gs, Inc. v. U.S. First & Guar. Co.,* 12 Wn. App 35, 42, 170 P.3d 592 (2007) (holding that the "lien bond releases the property from the lien, but the lien is then secured by the bond").

The court clearly differentiated the "subject property" from the bond. This is so because when a release of lien bond is filed, the lien foreclosure action ceases to be an *in rem* action. In fact, in the sole statutory provision dealing with the bond, the term "owner" is not found. RCW 60.04.161. Nowhere in that provision is the bond equated to "the subject property."

Based on the principles of statutory interpretation, the legislature did not intend the bond principal to be defined as the "owner of the subject property" in RCW 60.04.141.

### D. <u>Washington's Lien Statutes does not Expressly Require Bond</u> Principals be named as a Secondary Party.

RCW 60.04.171 states the owner of the real property is the only party that must be joined to a lien foreclosure action. There is no mention of the bond principal anywhere in the lien statutes. When the trial court acknowledged the *CalPortland* holding that the real property owner need not be named in that lawsuit, it nonetheless tried to find an "owner of the subject property" and came up with a forced conclusion that the bond was the subject property and the bond principal was the owner. (C.P. 120). It should not have taken this approach. Instead, the trial court should have recognized that the owner of the subject property need not be named in the lawsuit due to the release of lien bond and should have analyzed whether Fowler was a necessary party using common law principles. It did not do so and thus erred.

The salient question, then, is whether Inland's failure to name Fowler, when not required by the lien statutes, is fatal to its case. The answer is clearly no. Cases that have interpreted this statute have resorted to common law of other bodies of law to determine who else might or might not be a necessary and indispensable party.<sup>2</sup> See McLaughlin v. Zarbell, 29 Wn.2d 817, 190 P.2d 114 (1948) (a party purchasing property subsequent to commencement of mechanic's lien foreclosure action may be bound by decree although not a necessary party); Standard Lumber Co. v. Fields, 29 Wn.2d 327, 187 P.2d 283 (1947) (a contractor held not necessary party in action foreclosing lien); Harrington v. Miller, 4 Wash. 808, 31 P. 325 (1892) (in an action to foreclose against a leasehold interest, the assignor of such interest is not a necessary party); Harrington v. Johnston, 10 Wash. 542, 39 P. 141 (1895) (wives of partners not necessary parties to suit foreclosing mechanic's lien against partnership realty); Littell & Smythe Mfg. Co. v. Miller, 3 Wash. 480, 28 P. 1035, (1892) (both spouses necessary parties to action foreclosing lien against community realty, to make such judgment valid against community); see also, Powell v. Nolan, 27 Wash. 318, 67 P. 712, 68 P. 389 (1902); Northwest Bridge Co. v. Tacoma Shipbuilding Co., 36 Wash. 333, 78 P. 996 (1904).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Interestingly, in the annotations to RCW 60.04.171, the *CalPortland* case is not listed under "Necessary Parties" but under "Sufficient."

Looking at the common law of suretyship, the weight of authority permits a direct suit against a surety without joinder of the principal. See, e.g., U.S. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 5 F.2d 412 (65th Cir. 1925); Royal Indem. Co. v. Cliff Wood, Coal & Supply Co., 10 F.2d 501 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1925); Southern Sur. Co. v. Austin, 22 F.2d 881 (5th Cir. 1928); Downer v. U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co. of Maryland, 46 F.2d 733 (5th Cir. 1931); American Sur. Co. of New York v. Public Schools of City of Benton Harbor, 70 F.2d 653 (6th Cir. 1934); Seaboard Sur. Co. v. U.S., for Use and Benefit of Marshall-Wells Co., 84 F.2d 348 (9th Cir. 1936); Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland v. State of Montana, 92 F.2d 693 (9th Cir. 1937), affirming 16 F. Supp. 489; Home Indem. Co. of New York v. O'Brien, 104 F.2d 413 (6th Cir. 1939); McAlister v. Fidelity & Deposit Co. of Maryland, 37 F. Supp. 956 (W.D. S.C. 1941); Future Fashions v. American Sur. Co. of N.Y., 58 F. Supp. 36 (D.C. N.Y. 1945); Northeast Clackamas County Elec. Co-op. v. Continental Cas. Co., 221 F.2d 329 (9th Cir. 1955); U.S. for Use of Hudson v. Peerless Ins. Co., 374 F.2d 942 (4th Cir. 1967); General Ins. Co. of America v. Hercules Const. Co., 385 F.2d 13 (8th Cir. 1967).<sup>3</sup> The obligee (Inland in this case) has two sets of rights, one set against the principal obligor and one set against the secondary obligor, or surety. It would diminish the attractiveness and utility of the surety if the obligee in

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