MAY 0 5 2016

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 340228

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

INLAND EMPIRE DRY WALL SUPPLY, CO.

Appellant,

٧.

WESTERN SURETY CO.

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM SPOKANE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT THE HONORABLE JOHN O. COONEY

RESPONDENT WESTERN SURETY CO.'S RESPONSE BRIEF

TIMOTHY G. KLASHKE, WSBA #19953 Attorney for Respondent

KUFFEL, HULTGRENN, KLASHKE, SHEA & ELLERD, LLP 1915 Sun Willows Blvd., Ste. A P.O. Box 2368 Pasco, WA 99302 Telephone: (509) 545-8531

Email: tklashke@khkslaw.com

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When the Project Property was released from Inland's Lien via Fowler purchasing and recording the Bond pursuant to RCW 60.04.161, the Lien was transferred to the Bond, which then became the "property subject to the lien" for purposes of lien enforcement action under RCW 60.04.141. [See Section 5.C, infra at 12-32]

Because the Bond became the property subject to Inland's Lien, RCW 60.04.161 and .141 combined to jointly require Inland to file a Lien enforcement action against the "owner of the subject property" within eight months from the date of Lien recording and effectuate service of the action within 90 days thereafter. [See Section 5.C, infra at 12-32]

By virtue of Fowler purchasing and recording the Bond as named principal thereon, Fowler became an "owner of the subject property" under *CalPortland* for purposes of any lien enforcement action by Inland under RCW 60.04.141. [See Section 5.C, infra at 12-32]

Because Inland failed to sue and serve Fowler with the Lawsuit, however, Inland failed to comply with RCW 60.04.141's procedural requirements, thereby justifying and requiring dismissal of the Lawsuit

against Western and the Bond with prejudice. [See Section 5.C, infra at 12-32]

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

Because Inland appeals the trial court's Order on the parties' cross motions for summary judgment, this Court reviews that decision and Order on a de novo basis, essentially performing the same inquiry as the trial court, construing the evidence and reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Mita v. Guardsmark, LLC*, 182 Wn. App. 76, 82, 328 P.3d 962 (2014). Summary judgment is proper if the records on file with the trial court show "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c); *Mita v. Guardsmark, LLC, supra*.

This Court's review, however, is limited solely to the evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court. RAP 9.12 (Special Rule for Order on Summary Judgment); *Mita v. Guardsmark, LLC, supra.* Accordingly, this Court does not consider any argument/theory not advanced to the trial court. RAP 9.12; *Houk v. Best Development & Const. Co., Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 908, 915, 322 P.3d 29 (2014).

B. Inland Had to Fully and Timely Comply with RCW 60.04.141's Procedural Requirements to Enforce its Lien Against, and Potentially Obtain Payment From, the Subject RCW 60.04.161 Bond.

As it unsuccessfully attempted to do at the trial court level, Inland again attempts to justify and excuse its failure to sue and serve Fowler in the Lawsuit by simply asserting that Inland "is an entity intended to be protected" under RCW Chapter 60.04 and that, therefore, this Court "must liberally construe the statutes in Inland's favor" to avoid dismissal of the Lawsuit based on what Inland implores (and needs) this Court to view as an immaterial "technicality." [See Appellant's Brief at 15-16 and CP at 127 and 147]

Though Inland (as a construction materials supplier) is an entity generally entitled to claim an RCW 60.04 lien for unpaid materials supplied to construction projects, that general right to claim (and later enforce) a lien is conditioned on Inland (like any lien claimant) fully and timely complying with certain mandatory statutory requirements including, without limitation, the requirements of RCW 60.04.031 (prelien notice requirements), RCW 60.04.091 (claim of lien content and recording requirements), and (significantly pertinent to this appeal) RCW 60.04.141 (lien enforcement action filing and service-of-process

requirements). See e.g., CalPortland, 180 Wn. App. at 386-387 (noting that lien claimant must still timely and properly file suit and serve process under RCW 60.04.141 to preserve and enforce lien); Diversified Wood Recycling, Inc. v. Johnson, 161 Wn. App. 859, 871-872, 251 P.3d 293, as amend., rev. den'd., 172 Wn.2d 1025, 268 P.3d 224 (2011); Bob Pearson Const., Inc. v. First Community Bank of Washington, 111 Wn. App. 174, 179, 43 P.3d 1261 (2002); and Schumacher Painting Co. v. First Union Management, Inc., 69 Wn. App. 693, 700, 850 P.2d 1361, rev. den'd., 122 Wn.2d 1013, 863 P.2d 73 (1993).

Thus, Inland's failure to timely and properly provide a pre-lien notice required under 60.04.031 and/or failure to timely and properly record a claim of lien under 60.04.091 and/or failure to timely and properly pursue a lien enforcement action under RCW 60.04.141 would prevent Inland from either validly asserting and/or validly enforcing a lien claim despite and notwithstanding the general "liberal construction" provisions of RCW 60.04.900. *See CalPortland, supra* at 386-387; *Diversified Wood Recycling*, 161 Wn. App. at 871-872; and *Bob Pearson Const.*, 111 Wn. App. at 179.

In short, as will be more extensively discussed in following Section V.C. and elsewhere hereinbelow, Inland needed to fully and timely comply with RCW 60.04.141's procedural requirements to enforce

its Lien against, and potentially obtain payment from, the subject Bond purchased and recorded by Fowler.

C. <u>Inland Was Required to Timely Sue and Serve Fowler, the Named Principal Under the Subject RCW 60.04.161 Release Bond, in Order to Comply With RCW 60.04.141's Procedural Requirements.</u>

The provisions of the following <u>two key statutes</u> within RCW Chapter 60.04 -- together with the above and below-cited Washington caselaw addressing those statutes -- controlled the disposition of the parties' cross motions for summary judgment (and should now likewise control the disposition of this appeal) <u>in Western's favor as a matter of law</u>. [CP at 55 and 68]

RCW 60.04.141 (Appendix 5) provides in relevant part that:

No lien created by this chapter binds the property subject to the lien for a longer period than eight calendar months after the claim of lien has been recorded unless an action is filed by the lien claimant within that time in the superior court in the county where the subject property is located to enforce the lien, and service is made upon the owner of the subject property within ninety days of the date of filing the action [...] This is a period of limitation [...]. (Bold and underline emphasis added)

Thus, upon Inland recording its Lien against the Project Property on September 26, 2014, Inland then had eight months to properly file a lien enforcement action and serve the Project Property owner within 90 days thereafter. RCW 60.04.141; *CalPortland*, *supra* at 386; *see also*

RCW 60.04.171 (requiring necessary joinder of property owner as a party to a lien enforcement action and permissive joinder of any other interested party with an interest in the property the lien claimant wants to affect and foreclose). [CP at *Id.*]

Therefore, <u>had the Project Property not been released from the Lien via Fowler's recording of the Bond</u>, Inland would have been required to file a Lien enforcement action in Benton County Superior Court by May 26, 2015, against the Project Property owner and any other person/entity with a recorded interest in the Project Property that Inland wanted to foreclose by the action. [CP at 56 and 68]

Upon Fowler purchasing and recording the Bond, however, the provisions of RCW 60.04.161 (Appendix 6) then became applicable, which statute provides in relevant part as follows:

Any owner of real property subject to a recorded claim of lien under this chapter, or contractor, subcontractor, lender, or lien claimant who disputes the correctness or validity of the claim of lien may record, either before or after the commencement of an action to enforce the lien, in the office of the county recorder or auditor in the county where the claim of lien was recorded, a bond issued by a surety company authorized to issue surety bonds in the state. [...] The condition of the bond shall be to guarantee payment of any judgment upon the lien in favor of the lien claimant entered in any action to recover the amount claimed in a claim of lien, or on the claim asserted in the claim of lien. The effect of recording a bond shall be to release the real property described in the notice of claim of lien from the lien and any action brought to recover the amount claimed. Unless otherwise prohibited by law, if no action is commenced to recover on a lien within the time specified in RCW 60.04.141, the surety shall be discharged from liability under the bond. If an action is timely commenced, then on payment of any judgment entered in the action or on payment of the full amount of the bond to the holder of the judgment, whichever is less, the surety shall be discharged from liability under the bond. [...] (Bold and underline emphasis added)

[CP at 56 and 68-69]

In combining and applying the provisions of both RCW 60.04.161 and .141 to the case at bar, the net legal effects of Fowler purchasing and recording the Bond were as follows:

- The Project Property was released from Inland's Lien, the Lien was transferred to the Bond, and the Bond became the "subject property" for purposes of any Lien enforcement action by Inland under RCW 60.04.141;
- 2. Fowler (as principal under the Bond) created and preserved the right to dispute the Lien's correctness or validity if/when Inland pursued Lien enforcement action; and
- 3. Western (as surety under the Bond) assumed the limited obligation and liability to guarantee payment of any unsatisfied judgment awarded to Inland against Fowler

after litigating with Fowler over the Lien's correctness or validity.

See RCW 60.04.161; .141; and CalPortland, supra at 386-391. [CP at 56-57 and 69-70]

Thus, after the Project Property was released from Inland's Lien and the Lien transferred to the Bond, Fowler -- as named principal under the Bond it purchased for that purpose in order to dispute the Lien's correctness or validity <u>if/when</u> Inland attempted to enforce the Lien – became a necessary party to any action by Inland to enforce the Lien against the Bond. *See* RCW 60.04.161; .141; and *CalPortland*, *supra* at 386-391. [CP at 57 and 70]

Ironically, both Inland and Western cited and relied on *CalPortland* to support their respective motions for summary judgment. [See CP at 33-34 and 68-75] Inland cited *CalPortland* to support its unsuccessful position that Western was the only party that Inland needed to timely sue and serve under RCW 60.04.141, whereas Western cited *CalPortland* to support its successful position that Inland also needed to timely sue and serve Fowler with the Lawsuit. [See CP at 33-34, 57 and 70-75]

CalPortland represents the only reported Washington appellate court decision directly addressing the following ultimate key question

before the trial court -- and now before this Court: Who must a lien claimant timely sue and serve with a lien enforcement action under RCW 60.04.141 when a release bond is recorded under RCW 60.04.161 prior to the commencement of the action? CalPortland, supra at 387-388. [CP at 57 and 70] As the trial court ultimately determined, CalPortland established Washington precedent that answers that key question in favor of Western's position and against Inland's position. [See CP 118-120, 121-123, 151-152, and 153-154]

In *CalPortland*, Division 2 of the Washington Court of Appeals addressed "an issue of first impression" involving which parties a lien claimant needed to timely sue and serve to enforce a lien claim against an RCW 60.04.161 lien release bond obtained and recorded <u>prior to commencement of the lien enforcement action</u>. *CalPortland*, *supra* at 387. [CP at 57 and 70]

Like in the case at bar, a building materials supplier (like Inland) provided materials to a defaulting subcontractor (like EWD&P) and then filed a lien claim against the project property owned by Costco (like Inland did against the Project Property). *Id.* at 382. [CP at 57-58 and 70] Also like in the case at bar, the Costco project's general contractor obtained and recorded an RCW 60.04.161 lien release bond (like Fowler did) that named the general contractor as principal (like the Bond named

Fowler as principal) and Travelers as surety (like the Bond named Western as surety). *Id.* [CP at 58 and 70]

When the *CalPortland* lien claimant sued the general contractor, Travelers, and others to enforce its lien against the release bond, the general contractor asserted the defense that the suit was untimely because the lien claimant failed to also name and serve Costco (the project property owner) with the action within the eight month and 90 day time limitation periods required under RCW 60.04.141. *Id.* at 383. [CP at 58 and 70-71]

The *CalPortland* court rejected that argument, however, holding instead that Costco no longer had any interest in the matter after the bond was recorded and that the general contractor (as named principal under the bond) and Travelers (as named surety under the bond) were "[t]he only parties with an interest in the bond (bold and underline emphasis added)" and, therefore, the only parties that the lien claimant needed to timely sue and serve with the action to comply with RCW 60.04.141's procedural requirements. *See id.* at 387-388. [CP at 58 and 71]

Under *CalPortland*, suing and serving only the surety under an RCW 60.04.161 release bond does not comply with RCW 60.04.141's procedural requirements because a surety's liability under a release bond is fully conditional and not triggered until the lien claimant successfully

litigates with the principal under the bond to adjudicate and establish the disputed lien's correctness and validity. *Id.* at 393; see also RCW 60.04.161; Olson Engineering, Inc. v. KeyBank Nat. Assn., 171 Wn. App. 57, 66, 286 P.3 390 (2012); Stonewood Design, Inc. v. Heritage Homes, Inc., 165 Wn. App. 720, 725-725, 269 P.3 297 (2011); and DBM Consulting Engineers, Inc. v. United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 142 Wn. App. 35, 41, 170 P.3 592 (2007), recon. and rev. den'd., 164 Wn.2d 1005, 190 P.3d 54 (2008). [CP at *Id.*]

The provisions of RCW 60.04.161 -- and a surety's conditional and limited obligations under a release bond issued thereunder -- do not obligate or require the surety to dispute and litigate with the lien claimant over the lien's correctness and validity. See RCW 60.04.161; *DBM Consulting Engineers*, 142 Wn. App. at 40-42. [CP at 58-59 and 71]

Thus, in order for a lien claimant to satisfy the indispensable threshold requirement that it first successfully litigate and establish the lien's correctness and validity before seeking payment from a surety under a release bond, the lien claimant must necessarily sue and serve the principal under the bond with an action to enforce the lien because it is the principal -- not the surety -- who purchased and recorded the bond to dispute the lien's correctness or validity. *See* RCW 60.04.161; *CalPortland, supra* at 387-390. [CP at 59 and 71]

Indeed, the principal's mere act of recording a release bond does not in any way constitute the principal's concession that the lien is correct and valid, but rather by purchasing the bond the principal obtains and retains the right to dispute and litigate the disputed lien's correctness or validity if/when the lien claimant attempts to enforce the lien. *See* RCW 60.04.161; *DBM Consulting Engineers, supra* at 41. [CP at 59 and 72]

Thus, under *CalPortland*, Inland simply needed to sue and serve **both Western** (as named surety under the Bond) **and Fowler** (as named principal under the Bond) within the time limitations required under RCW 60.04.141, and Inland's failure to sue and serve Fowler within those time limitations rendered Inland's Lien against the Bond unenforceable and resulted in Western and the Bond being discharged from liability. *See* RCW 60.04.141 and .161; *DBM Consulting Engineers, Id.* [CP at *Id.*]

That result mandated under *CalPortland* is also required under the law of several other states.¹ Virginia is a very noteworthy example of

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